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& DESCRIPTION
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Designed by architect George Williams in stages between 1851 and 1857, the Rockwood
BEstate includes the manor house, porter's house, gardener's cottage, and stable, and
various outbuildings orlglnally surrounded by 211 acres of landscaped grounds.

1The estate was designed in rural Gothic taste and meant to fit the desorlption of the
ideal villa found in contemporary books. The two-and-a-half-story mansion is made of
rough, dark, Brandywine granite, with finished, gray granite quoins, window and door
surrounds. Wooden bargeboards, finials and pendants, and cast iron balustrades are
all painted darker than the stone. The roof is gabled, covered with tin, and sur-
~mounted - by clustered, red. brick chimneys. :

The entrance front or north facade of the house 1s,symmetr1cal in 1ts general out-
line but not in its detail. Two large, projecting, gabled bays frame the two-bayed
center section. The gabled bay on the east has an end chimney framed by cut granite

" quoins, = The chimney is pierced by an arched, blind w1ndow _The other gabled bay has
‘a large, double casement window. Similar windows are found at the second floor level
of the center bay, and next to the entrance porch on the ground level. The project-
ing entrance porch is supported by slender Gothic columns and decorated with scroll-
work and chevron moulding. Other decorative detail on this facade includes barge-
boards carved with a flat, floral vine motif, pendants, and finials at the apex of
each of the gables. :

The gable on the east end of the house repeats exactly in form and detail the fea-
tures of the east gable on the north facade. To the north of the gable, the straight -
lines of a triple, full-length, glass doorway contrasts sharply with the decorative
scrollwork of the projecting porch. A glass-enclosed conservatory projects in an
_easterly direction from the gabled section of the east front. It is supported by

cast iron columns on pedestals of tall, slender, Gothic proportions. The remainder

of the conservatory is largely built of wood with iron supports encased in the

wooden piers that frame the windows. A small balustrade surmounts the exterior wall;
it is composed of pierced, cast iron plaques separated by;Square, finial-topped newels.

The garden front is really the main facade of the house. A single-story veranda spans
the entire front and the seven bays are organized into a 3:1:3 grouping. The side
groups of three bays are further divided so that the central bay has three full-
length glass doors. This is repeated in a diminished fashion on the second floor
where a double casement window lies between single casement windows. Further em—
phasis is added to this grouping by the small gables which tops the side sections

and echo the shape of the large gable of the central pavilion. This pavilion is ‘the
main axis of the garden facade. ) : :

The west wing, or servant's quarters, includes part of the original house built from
1851 to 1855, as well as the addition designed by Williams in 1856 and the ten-radom
-addition of 1895. The construction is consistently the same rough dark granite ac-
centuated by the lighter cut granite quoins and window surrounds.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Although Rockwood is being nominated primarily for its architectural significance, to

a large extent its significance lies in its remarkable portrayal of an age. Constructed
between the years 1851 and 1857, the estate comprised a mansion house, porter's lodge,

stable, carriage house, gardener's cottage, and 211 acres. As it exists today, it is
~an unusually complete and effective statement of early Victorian taste in the tradition

of Andrew Jackson Downing and John Claudius Loudon..  Designed in the -rural Gothic style
- by the architect George Williams, the mansion house is a consummate statement of both
early Victorian romanticism, and the picturesque merger of irregular architecture and
~—naturalistic landscape. When taken in conjunction, the architecture, the plan, the
garden, and the remaining furnishings depict a total physical sensibility that is fast
vanishing from the American scene.

Joseph Shipley, the owner and builder of Rockwood, was born in Wilmington in 1795. As
a direct descendant of William Shipley, one of the founders and first chief Burgess of
Wilmington, Joseph Shipley was a member of one of the leading Quaker mill-owning fami-
lies in the area. A merchant by trade, he began a business. in Philadelphia but moved
to Liverpool, England, in 1819. Here he became a founding partner of Brown and Shipley,
an international backing firm. Upon his retirement in 1850, Joseph Shipley returned to
his native Wilmington and almost immediately activated the plans for his new home.

Shipley had had plans drawn up for his new home while he was still in England. Upon

~ his arrival here he chose a site which would lend itself well to the size and form of
the Gothic-revival structure and began amassing the 211 acres which would compose his
estate. Construction of the house began in September of 1851, and Shipley moved in
during 1855, He continued to live at Rockwood until his death on May 9, 1867, when
the estate was willed to his two unmarried sisters, Sarah and Hannah.

At their decease, the estate was to be divided equally among the nieces and nephews.
In the meantime, one of their grand-nephews, Edward Bringhurst IV, who was the grand-
son of Joseph Shipley's older brother, Samuel, came to live at Rockwood with his fami-
ly. Hannah Shipley died in 1892, and the estate was offered at auction. The house,
land and furnishings were purchased by Edward Bringhurst IV. - His daughter, Miss Mary
Bringhurst, lived in the house for a century. Rockwood remained in the ownership of
Shipley-Bringhurst descendants until 1975 when Mr. Gordon S. Hargraves gave the house
and six surrounding acres to New Castle County.

Under the direction of the County Department of Parks and Recreation, there will be
restoration and preservation of the grounds within the "ha-ha" wall and the exterior
of the Rockwood buildings to provide a conducive setting for the early Victorian
theme of the museum. Restoration and preservation of the building's interior will be
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Originally, the small west wing provided a balance for the conservatory on the east
end of the house. The addition of a second story to this wing in 1856 offset this
balance. The character of the house was changed again with the addition of the 1895
wing. The second story of this wing reflects the influence of such architects as
Greene and Greene, and Frank Lloyd Wright.

Interior:

The interior decoration of Rockwood presents as complete an illustration of mid-cen-
tury aestheticism as does the exterior. Each room is given definable masculine or
feminine characteristics, and is decorated with a distinct combination of stylistic
details that define the function of the room by evoking a specific emotion. The in-
terior parallels the exterior in its picturesque interplay of the Gothic and classi-
cal traditions in architecture.

The plan is organized with a central axis starting at the entrance door, crossing the
stair hall, bisecting the small anteroom between the two front rooms, and continuing
out the door into the garden. As shown in the plan, the lateral axis is broken by the
asymmetrical arrangement of the rooms. In fact, except for the placement of the draw-
ing room, dining room and intervening anteroom, which reflects the symmetrical garden
facade, the room arrangement follows the irregular pattern of the exterior.

The stair hall displays much of the mixture found in the architectural detail through-
out Rockwood: the archway is composed of a combination of Jacobean, Georgian, and
Greek revival motifs; the staircase is Jacobean and classical; the cornice is Roman
revival. In size and proportion, the stair hall is the most impressive room in the
house. The ceiling rises two full stories and has a heavy cornice proportionate to
its height. The room is girded on two sides by the oak staircase and on the other
two by the second floor balcony. The staircase epitomizes the duality of the in-
terior decoration in that the first rise and landing have large square newel posts
and a heavy Jacobean balustrade. Simple, classical balusters start at the second
level and continue up the stairs and around the gallery without newel posts. All
the first-floor rooms have varnished oak doors, the same finish as the staircase.
In addition, all rooms have twelve-inch baseboards, and floors made of rough pine
of random widths which were originally covered with either oilcloth or carpeting.

To the left of the stair hall is the "breakfast room" of Williams' plan. Shipley
used the room as a library. This room has a simple cove cornice bordered by an egg-
and-dart and a small, gilded, half-round moulding around the bottom, and a half-
round moulding on the top. The fireplace has a white marble hearthstone, while the
mantel is wood with plaster decoration, painted to resemble marble.
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The drawing room lies to the south of the breakfast room and forms, with the dining
room, the symmetrical pair of major rooms on the garden front.

The conservatory opens up off the east side of the drawing room. It has the shape
of a long rectangle with one end attached to the house. The three walls and roof
are entirely glazed and supported by eight interior cast iron columns bearing the
wooden framing. The original heating plant of the conservatory included hot water
pipes under the sandstone floor, with fifteen cast iron grates to conduct the heat
into the room. The furnace is self-contained and is placed in the cellar under the
drawing room.

In contrast to the drawing room, the dining room is Gothic in character. The white
marble fireplace is composed of short Gothic side panels and an opening in the form
of a Tudor arch with Gothic leaf carving in the spandrels. The cornice consists of
a series of large quarter and half round beads as well as a cyma reversa and cyma
recta of leaf patterns. Much of the original furniture of the dining room has sur-
vived. It is mahogany, massive in form, and skillfully built.

The bedrooms at Rockwood correspond largely to the shape and position of the first
floor rooms. All the rooms have fireplaces of white marble that are generally
plainer in character than those on the first floor. The cornices are also simpler.
Although the walls of the bedrooms were originally papered, the designs are not
known.

The gardens and the site of the entire Rockwood estate were as carefully conceived
as the architecture of the mansion house. The plan is derived from the gardenesque
school of landscape gardening that was reaching its zenith of popularity in the
1840's and 1850's.
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carried out with particular detail in the East Wing to recreate the grand manner of
Rockwood as a museum for the enjoyment of the public, utilizing loaned, donated and/or
purchased furniture presented in the Manor House. Many of the pieces of furniture al-
ready in the house are documented pieces of the Shipley and Bringhurst families. The
museum activities at Rockwood will include use of the conservatory, first floor drawing
room, breakfast room, cross hall, dining room, entry hall, study and the four second
floor bedrooms adjacent to the entry hall balcony.

At the entrance to the grounds of Rockwood stands a small porter's house built in a
style similar to the main house. This was the home of Joseph Shipley's gardener,
David Shaw who came here from Scotland in 1852 and remained to serve the family for
fifty years. His son, Robert, who was born in this house became noted for his etch-
ings, particularly those of the Wilmington area.

The Rockwood museum and grounds will be open to the public throughout the year.
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located at 630 Shipley Road; (2) the John W. Morris Property, located at 301l Rockwood
Road; (3) the Daniel Preston Property, located at 401 Rockwood Road; (4) the Iacono
Property, located at 403 Rockwood Road; (5) the Robert Grimble Property, located at
501 Rockwood Road; (6) the Eisenman Property, located at 503 Rockwood Road; (7) the
Foulger Property, located at 601 Rockwood Road; (8) the Wilber Daddow Property, lo-
cated at 603 Rockwood Road; and (9) the Masonic Hall Property, 12 acres recently sold
to Louis E. Capano Builders, located adjacent to the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad.
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